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SEVEN VI EW6 OF OLDUVAI GORCE

by M ke Resnick

The creatures came again |l ast night.

The noon had just slipped behind the clouds when we heard the
first rustlings in the grass. Then there was a nonment of utter
silence, as if they knew we were listening for them and finally
there were the famliar hoots and shrieks as they raced to within
fifty meters of us and, still screeching, struck postures of
aggr essi on.

They fascinate me, for they never show thenselves in the
daylight, and yet they mani fest none of the features of the true
nocturnal animal. Their eyes are not oversized, their ears cannot
move i ndependently, they tread very heavily on their feet. They
frighten nmost of the other nenbers of my party, and while | am
curious about them | have yet to absorb one of themand study it.

To tell the truth, | think ny use of absorption terrifies ny
compani ons nore than the creatures do, though there is no reason
why it should. Although | amrelatively young by ny race's
standards, | am neverthel ess many mllennia ol der than any ot her
menber of ny party. You would think, given their backgrounds, that
they would know that any trait someone of ny age possesses must by
definition be a survival trait.

Still, it bothers them Indeed, it _nystifies_ them nmuch as

my menory does. O course, theirs seemvery inefficient to ne.
I magi ne having to | earn everything one knows in a single lifetinme,
to be totally ignorant at the monent of birth! Far better to split
off fromyour parent with his know edge intact in your brain, just
as _ny_ parent's know edge came to him and ultimately to ne.

But then, that is why we are here: not to conpare
simlarities, but to study differences. And never was there a race
so different fromall his fellows as Man. He was extinct barely
seventeen mllennia after he strode boldly out into the gal axy
fromthis, the planet of his birth -- but during that brief

interval he wote a chapter in galactic history that will |ast
forever. He clainmed the stars for his own, colonized a nmllion
worlds, ruled his enpire with an iron will. He gave no quarter
during his primacy, and he asked for none during his decline and
fall. Even now, sone forty-eight centuries after his extinction,
his acconplishments and his failures still excite the imagi nation

VWhich is why we are on Earth, at the very spot that was said
to be Man's true birthplace, the rocky gorge where he first
crossed over the evolutionary barrier, sawthe stars with fresh
eyes, and vowed that they woul d sonmeday be his.

Qur leader is Bellidore, an Elder of the Kragan peopl e,
or ange- ski nned, golden fleeced, with wi se, patient ways. Bellidore
is well-versed in the behavior of sentient beings, and settles our
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di sputes before we even know that we are engaged in them

Then there are the Stardust Twins, glittering silver beings
who answer to each other's nanes and finish each other's thoughts.
They have worked on seventeen archaeol ogi cal digs, but even _they_
were surprised when Bellidore chose themfor this nost prestigious
of all mssions. They behave like |life nmates, though they display

no sexual characteristics -- but like all the others, they refuse
to have physical contact with me, so | cannot assuage ny
curiosity.

Also in our party is the Moriteu, who eats the dirt as if it
were a delicacy, speaks to no one, and sl eeps upside-down while
hanging froma branch of a nearby tree. For sone reason, the
creatures always leave it alone. Perhaps they think it is dead,
possibly they know it is asleep and that only the rays of the sun
can awaken it. Whatever the reason, we would be lost without it,
for only the delicate tendrils that extend fromits nmouth can
excavate the ancient artifacts we have discovered with the proper
care.

We have four other species with us: one is an Historian, one
an Exobi ol ogi st, one an Apprai ser of human artifacts, and one
a Mystic. (At least, | _assume_ she is a Mystic, for | can find no
pattern to her approach, but this nmay be due to ny own
shortsi ght edness. After all, what | do seens |ike magic to ny
conpanions and yet it is a rigorously-applied science.)

And, finally, there is me. | have no nane, for ny people do
not use nanmes, but for the convenience of the party | have taken
the name of He Who Views for the duration of the expedition. This
is a double msnoner: | amnot a he , for ny race is not divided
by gender; and | amnot a viewer, but a Fourth Level Feeler
Still, | could intuit very early in the voyage that "feel" neans
sonmet hing very different to my conpanions than to nyself, and out
of respect for their sensitivities, | chose a | ess accurate nane.

Every day finds us back at work, exam ning the various
strata. There are many signs that the area once teened with |living
things, that early on there was a veritable explosion of life
forns in this place, but very little remains today. There are a
few species of insects and birds, sone snall rodents, and of
course the creatures who visit our canp nightly.

Qur collection has been growing slowy. It is fascinating to
wat ch nmy conpani ons performtheir tasks, for in nmany ways they are
as nmuch of a nystery to ne as ny nethods are to them For exanpl e,
our Exobiol ogi st needs only to glide her tentacle across an object
to tell us whether it was once living matter; the Hi storian,
surrounded by its conpl ex equi pnment, can date any object, carbon-
based or otherwise, to within a decade of its origin, regardl ess
of its state of preservation; and even the Mriteu is a thing of
beauty and fascination as it gently separates the artifacts from
the strata where they have rested for so |ong.

I amvery glad | was chosen to cone on this nmission

#

We have been here for two |unar cycles now, and the work goes
slowy. The lower strata were thoroughly excavated eons ago (
have such a personal interest in |earning about Man that | al nost
used the word plundered_rather than _excavated , so resentful am
I at not finding nore artifacts), and for reasons as yet unknown
there is alnpst nothing in the nore recent strata.

Most of us are pleased with our results, and Bellidore is
particularly elated. He says that finding five nearly intact
artifacts nmakes the expedition an unqualified success.

Al the others have worked tirelessly since our arrival. Now
it is almobst tine for me to performny special function, and | am

file:///ID|/Documents%20and%20Settings/harry/D...0-%20Seven%20Views%200f%200lduvai%20Gorge.txt (2 of 34) [2/24/2004 10:56:17 PM]



file:///ID}/Documents%20and%20Setti ngs/harry/Desktop/New%20Fol der/Mike%20Resni ck%620-%20Seven%20V iews%200f %200l duvai %620Gorge.txt

very excited. | know that ny findings will be no nore inportant
that the others', but perhaps, when we put themall together, we
can finally begin to understand what it was that nmade Man what he
was.
#

"Are you..." asked the first Stardust Tw n.

"...ready?" said the second

I answered that | was ready, that indeed | had been anxious
for this nonent.

"May we..."

"...observe?" they asked.

"If you do not find it distasteful,"” | replied.
"W are...

.scientists," they said. "There is..."
.very little..."
.that we cannot view.."
...0bjectively."

| anmbul ated to the table upon which the artifact rested. It
was a stone, or at least that is what it appeared to be to ny
exterior sensory organs. It was triangular, and the edges showed
signs of work.

"How ol d is this?" | asked.

"Three mllion..."

"...five hundred and sixty-one thousand..."

"...eight hundred and twelve years," answered the Stardust

TW ns.
"l see," | said.
"It is much..."
"...the oldest..."

"...of our finds."

| stared at it for a long tine, preparing nyself. Then
slowy, carefully, altered ny structure and all owed ny body to
fl ow over and around the stone, engulfing it, and assimlating its
history. | began to feel a delicious warnth as it becane one with
me, and while all ny exterior senses had shut down, | knew that |
was undul ating and glowing with the thrill of discovery. | becane
one with the stone, and in that corner of ny mind that is set
aside for Feeling, | seened to sense the Earth's noon | ooming | ow
and om nous just above the horizon..

* * *

Enkatai awoke with a start just after dawn and | ooked up at
the moon, which was still high in the sky. After all these weeks
it still seened far too large to hang suspended in the sky, and
must surely crash down onto the planet any nonment. The ni ghtmare
was still strong in her mnd, and she tried to imgi ne the
conforting sight of five small, unthreateni ng noons | eapfrogging
across the silver sky of her own world. She was able to hold the
vision in her mnd s eye for only a noment, and then it was | ost,
replaced by the reality of the huge satellite above her.

Her compani on approached her.

" Anot her drean?" he asked.

"Exactly like the last one," she said unconfortably. "The
moon is visible in the daylight, and then we begi n wal ki ng down
the path..."

He stared at her with sympathy and of fered her nourishnent.
She accepted it gratefully, and | ooked off across the vel dt.

"Just two nore days," she sighed, "and then we can | eave this
awful place."

"It is not such a terrible world," replied Bokatu. "It has
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many good qualities."

"W have wasted our tine here," she said. "It is not fit for
col oni zation."

"No, it is not," he agreed. "Qur crops cannot thrive in this
soil, and we have problens with the water. But we have | earned
many things, things that will eventually hel p us choose the proper
wor | d. "

"W | earned nost of themthe first week we were here," said
Enkatai. "The rest of the tine was wasted."

"The ship had other worlds to explore. They could not know we
woul d be able to analyze this one in such a short tine."

She shivered in the cool norning air. "I hate this place."

"I't will someday be a fine world," said Bokatu. "It awaits
only the evolution of the brown nonkeys."

Even as he spoke, an enornous baboon, some 350 pounds in
wei ght, heavily nuscled, with a shaggy chest and bol d, curious
eyes, appeared in the distance. Even walking on all fours it was a
form dable figure, fully twice as large as the great spotted cats.

" We_ cannot use this world," continued Bokatu, "but soneday
_his_descendants will spread across it."

"They seem so placid," comrented Enkat ai

"They _are_ placid," agreed Bokatu, hurling a piece of food
at the baboon, which raced forward and picked it up off the
ground. It sniffed at it, seened to consider whether or not to
taste it, and finally, after a nonment of indecision, put it inits
mouth. "But they will dominate this planet. The huge grass-eaters
spend too nmuch tine feeding, and the predators sleep all the tine.
No, nmy choice is the brown nonkey. They are fine, strong,
intelligent aninmals. They have al ready devel oped thunbs, they
possess a strong sense of conmunity, and even the great cats think
twi ce about attacking them They are virtually wi thout natura
predators." He nodded his head, agreeing with hinself. "Yes, it is
they who will dominate this world in the eons to conme."

"No predators?" said Enkat ai

"Ch, | suppose one falls prey to the great cats now and then,
but even the cats do not attack when they are with their troop."
He | ooked at the baboon. "That fellow has the strength to tear al
but the biggest cat to pieces.”

"Then how do you account for what we found at the bottom of
the gorge?" she persisted.

"Their size has cost them sonme degree of agility. It is only
natural that one occasionally falls down the slopes to its death."
"Qccasional |l y?" she repeated. "I found seven skulls, each

shattered as if froma blow"

"The force of the fall," said Bokatu with a shrug. "Surely
you don't think the great cats brained them before killing thenP"

"I wasn't thinking of the cats,"” she replied.

"What, then?"

"The small, tailless nonkeys that live in the gorge."

Bokatu al |l owed himself the luxury of a superior smle. "Have
you _| ooked_ at thenP" he said. "They are scarcely a quarter the
size of the brown nobnkeys."

"I _have_ |l ooked at them" answered Enkatai. "And they, too,
have t hunbs. "

"Thunbs al one are not enough," sai d Bokat u.

"They live in the shadow of the brown nonkeys, and they are
still here," she said. " _That_is enough."

"The brown nmonkeys are eaters of fruits and | eaves. Wy
shoul d they bother the taill ess nonkeys?"

"They do nore than not bother them" said Enkatai. "They
avoid them That hardly seens |ike a species that will soneday
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spread across the world."

Bokat u shook his head. "The taill ess nonkeys seemto be at an
evol utionary dead end. Too small to hunt gane, too large to feed
t hensel ves on what they can find in the gorge, too weak to conpete
with the brown nonkeys for better territory. My guess is that
they're an earlier, nore prinmtive species, destined for
extinction."

"Per haps," said Enkat ai

"You di sagree?"

"There is sonething about them.."

"What ?"
Enkatai shrugged. "I do not know. They nake ne uneasy. It is
sonething in their eyes, | think -- a hint of mal evol ence.”

"You are inmagining things," said Bokatu.

"Perhaps," replied Enkatai again.

"I have reports to wite today," said Bokatu. "But tonorrow I
will prove it to you."

#

The next norning Bokatu was up with the sun. He prepared
their first nmeal of the day while Enkatai conpleted her prayers,
then perforned his own while she ate.

"Now, " he announced, "we will go down into the gorge and
capture one of the tailless nonkeys."

"\ 2"

"To show you how easy it is. | may take it back with ne as a
pet. O perhaps we shall sacrifice it in the lab and |learn nore
about its life processes."

"l do not want_a pet, and we are not authorized to kill any
animal s."

"As you wish," said Bokatu. "W will let it go."

"Then why capture one to begin with?"

"To show you that they are not intelligent, for if they are
as bright as you think, I will not be able to capture one." He
pull ed her to an upright position. "Let us begin."

"This is foolish," she protested. "The ship arrives in
m daft ernoon. Wiy don't we just wait for it?"

"W will be back intine," he replied confidently. "How | ong
can it take?"

She | ooked at the clear blue sky, as if trying to urge the
ship to appear. The nmpbon was hangi ng, huge and white, just above
the horizon. Finally she turned to him

"All right, I will come with you -- but only if you prom se
merely to observe them and not to try to capture one."

"Then you admit |'mright?"

"Sayi ng that you are right or wong has nothing to do with
the truth of the situation. | _hope_ you are right, for the
taill ess nonkeys frighten ne. But | do not know you are right, and
nei ther do you."

Bokatu stared at her for a | ong nonent.

"l agree," he said at |ast.

"You agree that you cannot know?"

"l agree not to capture one," he said. "Let us proceed.”

They wal ked to the edge of the gorge and then began cli nbing
down the steep enbanknments, steadying thenselves by wapping their
|inbs around trees and other outgrowths. Suddenly they heard a
| oud screeching.

"What is that?" asked Bokat u.

"They have seen us," replied Enkat ai

"What nakes you think so?"

"l have heard that screamin ny dream-- and al ways the noon

file:///ID|/Documents%20and%20Settings/harry/D...0-%20Seven%20Views%200f%200lduvai%20Gorge.txt (5 of 34) [2/24/2004 10:56:17 PM]



file:///ID}/Documents%20and%20Setti ngs/harry/Desktop/New%20Fol der/Mike%20Resni ck%620-%20Seven%20V iews%200f %200l duvai %620Gorge.txt

was just as it appears now. "

"Strange," nused Bokatu. "l have heard them many tines
before, but sonehow they seem | ouder this time."

"Perhaps nore of themare here."

"Or perhaps they are nore frightened," he said. He glanced
above him "Here is the reason," he said, pointing. "W have
conpany. "

She | ooked up and saw a huge baboon, quite the | argest she
had yet seen, following themat a distance of perhaps fifty feet.
When its eyes net hers it grow ed and | ooked away, but nmade no
attenpt to nove any closer or farther away.

They kept clinbing, and whenever they stopped to rest, there
was the baboon, its accustoned fifty feet away fromthem

"Does _he_ look afraid to you?" asked Bokatu. "If these puny
little creatures could harmhim would he be foll ow ng us down
into the gorge?"

"There is a thin |ine between courage and foolishness, and an
even thinner line between confidence and over-confidence," replied
Enkat ai

"If he is to die here, it will be like all the others,
Bokatu. "He will lose his footing and fall to his death."

"You do not find it unusual that every one of themfell on
its head?" she asked nildly.

"They broke every bone in their bodies,
know why you consi der only the heads."

"Because you do not get identical head wounds fromdifferent
i ncidents."

"You have an overactive inmagi nation," said Bokatu. He pointed
to a small hairy figure that was staring up at them "Does _that
| ook I'ike sonething that could kill our friend here?"

The baboon gl ared down into the gorge and snarled. The
taill ess nonkey | ooked up with no show of fear or even interest.
Finally it shuffled off into the thick bush.

"You see?" said Bokatu srmugly. "One | ook at the brown nonkey
and it retreats out of sight.”

"It didn't seemfrightened to ne," noted Enkatai

"Al'l the nore reason to doubt its intelligence."

In another few mnutes they reached the spot where the
taill ess nonkey had been. They paused to regain their strength,
and then continued to the floor of the gorge.

"Not hi ng, " announced Bokatu, |ooking around. "My guess is
that the one we saw was a sentry, and by now the whole tribe is
nmles away. "

"Cbserve our conpanion."

The baboon had reached the fl oor of the gorge and was tensely
testing the w nd.

"He hasn't crossed over the evolutionary barrier yet," said
Bokat u, anused. "Do you expect himto search for predators with a
sensor ?"

"No," said Enkatai, watching the baboon. "But if there is no
danger, | expect himto relax, and he hasn't done that yet."

"That's probably how he lived | ong enough to grow this
| arge," said Bokatu, dismssing her renmarks. He | ooked around.
"What could they possibly find to eat here?"

"l don't know. "

"Per haps we shoul d capture one and dissect it. The contents
of its stomach might tell us a lot about it."

"You prom sed."

"I't would be so sinple, though," he persisted. "All we'd have
to do would be bait a trap with fruits or nuts."

Suddenl y the baboon snarled, and Bokatu and Eknatai turned to

sai d

he replied. "I don't
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| ocate the source of his anger. There was nothing there, but the
baboon becane nore and nore frenzied. Finally it raced back up the
gor ge.

"What was that all about, | wonder?" nused Bokat u.

"I think we should | eave."

"W have half a day before the ship returns.”

"I amuneasy here. | wal ked down a path exactly like this in
my dream”

"You are not used to the sunlight,’
i nside a cave."

She reluctantly allowed himto lead her to a small cave in
the wall of the gorge. Suddenly she stopped and woul d go no
further.

"What is the matter?"

"This cave was in ny dream" she said. "Do not go into it."

"You nust learn not to let dreans rule your life," said
Bokatu. He sniffed the air. "Sonething snells strange."

"Let us go back. We want nothing to do with this place.”

He stuck his head into the cave. "New worl d, new odors."

"Pl ease, Bokatu!"

"Let ne just see what causes that odor," he said, shining his
light into the cave. It illum nated a huge pile of bodies, nany of
them hal f-eaten, nobst in various states of deconposition

"What are they?" he asked, stepping closer

"Brown nonkeys," she replied without |ooking. "Each with its
head staved in."

"This was part of your dream too?" he asked, suddenly
nervous.

She nodded her head. "W nust |eave this place now!"

He wal ked to the mouth of the cave.

"I't seens safe," he announced.

"It is never safe in nmy dream" she said uneasily.

They left the cave and wal ked about fifty yards when they
canme to a bend in the floor of the gorge. As they followed it,
they found thensel ves facing a tailless nonkey.

"One of them seens to have stayed behind,"” said Bokatu. "I'l
frighten himaway." He picked up a rock and threwit at the
nmonkey, which ducked but held its ground.

Enkatai touched himurgently on the shoul der. "Mre than

she sai d.

He | ooked up. Two nore taill ess nonkeys were in a tree al nost
directly overhead. As he stepped aside, he saw four nore | unbering
toward them out of the bush. Another emerged froma cave, and
three nore dropped out of nearby trees.

"What have they got in their hands?" he asked nervously.

"You would call themthe fenmur bones of grass-eaters,” said
Enkatai, with a sick feeling in her thorax. " _They would cal
t hem weapons. "

The hairl ess nonkeys spread out in a senmi-circle, then began
approaching them sl ow y.

"But they're so puny !" said Bokatu, backing up until he
came to a wall of rock and could go no farther

"You are a fool," said Enkatai, helplessly trapped in the
reality of her dream " _This_is the race that will donmnate this
pl anet. Look into their eyes!"

Bokat u | ooked, and he saw things, terrifying things, that he
had never seen in any being or any aninmal before. He barely had
time to offer a brief prayer for some disaster to befall this race
before it could reach the stars, and then a tailless nonkey hurled
a smooth, polished, triangular stone at his head. It dazed him

he said. "W will rest

one,
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and as he fell to the ground, the clubs began poundi ng down
rhythmically on himand Enkat ai

At the top of the gorge, the baboon watched the carnage unti
it was over, and then raced off toward the vast savannah, where he
woul d be safe, at least tenporarily, fromthe tailless nonkeys.

* * *

"A weapon,"” | nused. "It was a _weapon_!"

I was all alone. Sonetine during the Feeling, the Stardust
Twi ns had decided that | was one of the few things they could not
be objective about, and had returned to their quarters.

I waited until the excitenent of discovery had dim nished
enough for ne to control ny physical structure. Then | once again
took the shape that | presented to nmy conpanions, and reported ny
findings to Bellidore.

"So even then they were aggressors,” he said. "Well, it is
not surprising. The will to dom nate the stars had to have cone
from somewhere. "

"It is surprising that there is no record of any race having
| anded here in their prehistory," said the Hi storian

"It was a survey team and Earth was of no use to them"
answered. "They doubtl ess touched down on any nunber of planets.
If there is a record anywhere, it is probably in their archives,
stating that Earth showed no prom se as a colony world."

"But didn't they wonder what had happened to their tean"
asked Bel lidore.

"There were many large carnivores in the vicinity," | said.
"They probably assuned the team had fallen prey to them
Especially if they searched the area and found nothing."

"Interesting," said Bellidore. "That the weaker of the
speci es should have risen to dom nance."

"I think it is easily explained," said the Historian. "_As_
the small er species, they were neither as fast as their prey nor
as strong as their predators, so the creation of weapons was
perhaps the only way to avoid extinction...or at |east the best
way. "

"Certainly they displayed the cunning of the predator during
their mllennia abroad in the galaxy," said Bellidore.

"One does not _stop_ being aggressive sinply because one
invents a weapon," said the Historian. "In fact, it may _add_to
one's aggression."

"l shall have to consider that,"'
sonmewhat unconvi nced.

"l have perhaps over-sinplified ny train of thought for the
sake of this discussion," replied the Historian. "Rest assured
that | will build a lengthy and rigorous argunent when | present
my findings to the Acadeny."

"And what of you, He Wio Views?" asked Bellidore. "Have you
any observations to add to what you have told us?"

"It is difficult to think of a rock as being the percursor of
the sonic rifle and the nol ecul ar inploder,” | said thoughtfully,
"but | believe it to be the case."

"A nost interesting species,"

#

It took alnobst four hours for ny strength to return, for
Feeling saps the energy |like no other function, draw ng equally
fromthe body, the enotions, the mnd, and the enpathic powers.

The Moriteu, its work done for the day, was hangi ng upsi de
down froma tree linb, lost inits evening trance, and the
Stardust Twi ns had not nade an appearance since | had Felt the

sai d Bellidore, |ooking

said Bellidore
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st one.

The other party nmenbers were busy with their own pursuits,
and it seened an ideal time for me to Feel the next object, which
the Historian told ne was approximately 23,300 years ol d.

It was a link of nmetallic chain, rusted and pitted, and
before | assinmilated it, | thought | could see a spot where it had
been del i berately broken..

H s nane was Mepwa, and it seened to himthat he had been
wearing a netal collar around his neck since the day he had been
born. He knew that couldn't be true, for he had fleeting nenories
of playing with his brothers and sisters, and of stal king the kudu
and the bongo on the tree-covered nountain where he grew up.

But the nore he concentrated on those nmenories, the nore
vague and inprecise they becane, and he knew t hey nust have
happened a very long tine ago. Sonetines he tried to renenber the
name of his tribe, but it was lost in the nmsts of tinme, as were
the nanes of his parents and siblings.

It was at tinmes like this that Mepwa felt sorry for hinself,
but then he woul d consider his conpanions' situation, and he felt
better, for while they were to be taken in ships and sent to the
edge of the world to spend the remainder of their lives as slaves
of the Arabs and the Europeans, he hinmself was the favored servant
on his master, Sharif Abdullah, and as such his position was
assured.

This was his eighth caravan -- or was it his ninth? -- from
the Interior. They would trade salt and cartridges to the triba
chiefs who would in turn sell themtheir |east productive warriors
and wonen as sl aves, and then they would march them out, around
the huge | ake and across the dry flat savannah. They would circle
the nmountain that was so old that it had turned white on the top,
just like a white-haired old man, and finally out to the coast,
where dhows filled the harbor. There they would sell their human
booty to the highest bidders, and Sharif Abdullah woul d purchase
another wife and turn half the noney over to his aged, feeble
father, and they would be off to the Interior again on another
quest for black gold.

Abdul | ah was a good master. He rarely drank -- and when he
did, he always apol ogized to Allah at the next opportunity -- and
he did not beat Mepwa overly nuch, and they al ways had enough to
eat, even when the cargo went hungry. He even went so far as to
teach Mepwa how to read, although the only reading matter he
carried with himwas the Koran.

M epwa spent |ong hours honing his reading skills with the
Koran, and sonewhere along the way he made a npbst interesting
di scovery: the Koran forbade a practitioner of the True Faith to
keep anot her menber in bondage.

It was at that nonent that Mepwa nade up his mind to convert
to Islam He began questioning Sharif Abdullah incessantly on the
finer points of his religion, and made sure that the old man saw
himsitting by the fire, hour after hour, reading the Koran.

So enthused was Sharif Abdullah at this devel opnment that he
frequently invited Mepwa into his tent at suppertine, and
| ectured himon the subtleties of the Koran far into the night.

M epwa was a notivated student, and Sharif Abdul |l ah marvel ed at
hi s ent husi asm

Ni ght after night, as lions prowl ed around their canp in the
Serengeti, master and pupil studied the Koran together. And
finally the day cane when Sharif Abdullah could not |onger deny

file:///ID|/Documents%20and%20Settings/harry/D...0-%20Seven%20Views%200f%200lduvai%20Gorge.txt (9 of 34) [2/24/2004 10:56:17 PM]



file:///ID}/Documents%20and%20Setti ngs/harry/Desktop/New%20Fol der/Mike%20Resni ck%620-%20Seven%20V iews%200f %200l duvai %620Gorge.txt

that Mepwa was indeed a true believer of Islam It happened as
they canped at the O duvai Gorge, and that very day Sharif
Abdul | ah had his snmith renove the collar from Mepwa's neck, and
M epwa hinmsel f destroyed the chains link by link, hurling them
deep into the gorge when he was finished.

M epwa was now a free man, but know edgable in only two
areas: the Koran, and slave-trading. So it was only natural that
when he | ooked around for sonme neans to support hinself, he
settled upon following in Sharif Abdullah's footsteps. He becane a
junior partner to the old nan, and after two nore trips to the
Interior, he decided that he was ready to go out on his own.

To do that, he required a trained staff -- warriors, sniths,
cooks, trackers -- and the prospect of assenbling one from scratch
was daunting, so, since his faith was | ess strong than his
mentor's, he sinply sneaked into Sharif Abdullah's quarters on the
coast one night and slit the old nman's throat.

The next day, he marched inland at the head of his own
caravan.

He had | earned nuch about the business of slaving, both as a
practitioner and a victim and he put his knwol edge to full use.
He knew t hat healthy slaves would bring a better price at narket,
and so he fed and treated his captives far better than Sharif
Abdul | ah and nost other slavers did. On the other hand, he knew
whi ch ones were fonenting trouble, and knew it was better to kil
them on the spot as an exanple to the others, than to let any
hopes of insurrection spread anong the captives.

Because he was thorough, he was equally successful, and
soon expanded into ivory trading as well. Wthin six years he had
the bi ggest slaving and poaching operation in East Africa.

Fromtinme to tine he ran across European explorers. It was
said that he even spent a week with Dr. David Livingstone and | eft
wi t hout the mssionary ever knowi ng that he had been pl ayi ng host
to the slaver he nbst wanted to put out of business.

After America's War Between the States killed his prinmary
mar ket, he took a year off fromhis operation to go to Asia and
the Arabi an Peninsula and open up new ones. Upon returning he
found that Abdullah's son, Sharif Ibn Jad Mahir, had appropriated
all his nmen and headed inland, intent on carrying on his father's
busi ness. Mepwa, who had becone quite wealthy, hired sone 500
_askari _, placed them under the conmand of the notorious ivory
poacher Al fred Henry Pym and sat back to await the results.

Three nonths |later Pym marched sone 438 nen back to the
Tanganyi kan coast. 276 were slaves that Sharif |bn Jad Mahir had
captured; the remai nder were the remmants of Mepwa's
organi zati on, who had gone to work for Sharif Ibn Jad Mahir.

M epwa sold all 438 of theminto slavery and built a new
organi zati on, conposed of the warriors who had fought for him
under Pym s | eadershi p.

Most of the colonial powers were inclined to turn a blind eye
to his practices, but the British, who were determined to put an
end to slavery, issued a warrant for Mepwa's arrest. Eventually
he tired of continually | ooking over his shoul der, and noved his
headquarters to Mozanbi que, where the Portugese were happy to |et
hi m set up shop as | ong as he renmenbered that col onial pal ns
needed constant greasing.

He was never happy there -- he didn't speak Portugese or any
of the local |anguages -- and after nine years he returned to
Tanganyi ka, now the weal t hi est black man on the conti nent.

One day he found anmpong his |atest batch of captives a young
Achol i boy naned Haradi, no nore than ten years old, and decided
to keep himas a personal servant rather than ship himacross the
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ocean.

M epwa had never married. Mst of his associates assuned that
he had sinply never had the tinme, but as the al nost-nightly
demands for Haradi to visit himin his tent became comon
know edge, they soon revised their opinions. Mepwa seened
besotted with his servant boy, though -- doubtless renenbering his
own experience -- he never taught Haradi to read, and prom sed a
sl ow and pai nful death to anyone who spoke of Islamto the boy.

Then one night, after sone three years had passed, M epwa
sent for Haradi. The boy was nowhere to be found. Mepwa awoke al
his warriors and denmanded that they search for him for a | eopard
had been seen in the vicinity of the canp, and the slaver feared
t he worst.

They found Haradi an hour later, not in the jaws of a
| eopard, but in the arns of a young fenmale slave they had taken
fromthe Zaneke tribe. Mepwa was beside hinself with rage, and
had the poor girl's arns and | egs torn from her body.

Haradi never offered a word of protest, and never tried to
defend the girl -- not that it would have done any good -- but the
next norning he was gone, and though Mepwa and his warriors spent
al nrost a nonth searching for him they found no trace of him

By the end of the nonth Mepwa was quite insane with rage and
grief. Deciding that life was no | onger worth living, he wal ked up
to a pride of lions that were gorging thenselves on a topi carcass
and, striding into their mdst, began cursing themand hitting
themwith his bare hands. Al nost unbelievably, the |ions backed
away fromhim snarling and grow ing, and disappeared into the
t hi ck bush.

The next day he picked up a |large stick and began beating a
baby el ephant with it. That should have precipitated a brutal
attack by its nother -- but the nother, standing only a few feet
away, trunpeted in terror and raced off, the baby follow ng her as
best it could.

It was then that Mepwa decided that he could not die, that
sonehow t he act of disnenbering the poor Zanake girl had made him
imortal. Since both incidents had occured within sight of his
superstitious followers, they fervently believed him

Now that he was immortal, he decided that it was tinme to stop
trying to acconodate the Europeans who had i nvaded his | and and
kept issuing warrents for his arrest. He sent a runner to the
Kenya border and invited the British to neet himin battle. Wen
the appointed day cane, and the British did not show up to fight
him he confidently told his warriors that word of his imortality
had reached the Europeans and that fromthat day forth no white
men woul d ever be willing to oppose him The fact that he was
still in German territory, and the British had no legal right to
go there, sonehow nmanaged to el ude him

He began marching his warriors inland, openly in search of
sl aves, and he found his share of themin the Congo. He | ooted
villages of their nmen, their wonen, and their ivory, and finally,
with al nost 600 captives and half that many tusks, he finally
turned east and began the nonths-long trek to the coast.

This time the British were waiting for himat the Uganda
border, and they had so many arnmed nen there that Mepwa turned
south, not for fear for his own life, but because he coul d not
afford to I ose his slaves and his ivory, and he knew that his
warriors | acked his invulnerability.

He marched his arny down to Lake Tanganyi ka, then headed
east. It took himtwd weeks to reach the western corridor of the
Serengeti, and another ten days to cross it.
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One night he made canp at the lip of the O duvai Gorge, the
very place where he had gained his freedom The fires were lit, a
wi | debeest was sl aughtered and cooked, and as he rel axed after the
meal he became aware of a buzzing anpbng his men. Then, from out of
the shadows, stepped a strangely famliar figure. It was Haradi,
now fifteen years old, and as tall as Mepwa hinself.

Mepwa stared at himfor a |ong nonent, and suddenly all the
anger seenmed to drain fromhis face.

"I amvery glad to see you again, Haradi," he said.

"l have heard that you cannot be killed," answered the boy,
brandi shing a spear. "I have cone to see if that is true."

"W have no need to fight, you and I," said Mepwa. "Join ne
inm tent, and all will be as it was."

"Once | tear your linbs fromyour body, _then_ we will have

no reason to fight," responded Haradi. "And even then, you will
seemno less repulsive to ne than you do now, or than you did al
those nany years ago."

M epwa junped up, his face a nask of fury. "Do your worst,
then!" he cried. "And when you realize that | cannot be harned, |
will do to you as | did to the Zanake girl!"

Haradi made no reply, but hurled his spear at Mepwa. It went
into the slaver's body, and was thrown with such force that the
poi nt energed a good six inches on the other side. Mepwa stared
at Haradi with disbelief, npaned once, and tunbled down the rocky
sl opes of the gorge.

Haradi | ooked around at the warriors. "Is there any anpng you
who dispute nmy right to take Mepwa' s pl ace?" he asked
confidently.

A burly Makonde stood up to challenge him and within thirty
seconds Haradi, too, was dead.

#

The British were waiting for them when they reached Zanzi bar.
The slaves were freed, the ivory confiscated, the warriors
arrested and forced to serve as | aborers on the Mnbasa/ Uganda
Rail way. Two of themwere later killed and eaten by lions in the
Tsavo District.

By the time Lieutenant-Colonel J. H Patterson shot the
not ori ous Man-Eaters of Tsavo, the railway had al nbst reached the
shanty town of Nairobi, and Mepwa's name was so thoroughly
forgotten that it was misspelled in the only history book in which
it appeared.

* * *
"Amazing!" said the Appraiser. "I knew they enslaved nmany
races throughout the galaxy -- but to enslave _thenselves ! It is

al nrost beyond belief!"

I had rested fromny efforts, and then related the story of
M epwa.

"Al'l ideas nust begin sonmewhere," said Bellidore placidly.
"Thi s one obviously began on Earth."

"It is barbaric!" nuttered the Appraiser

Bellidore turned to nme. "Man never attenpted to subjugate
_your _ race, He W Views. Wiy was that?"

"W had nothing that he wanted."

"Can you renenber the gal axy when Man dom nated it?" asked
t he Apprai ser.

"l can renenber the gal axy when Man's progenitors killed
Bokatu and Enkatai," | replied truthfully.

"Did you ever have any dealings with Man?"

"None. Man had no use for us."
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"But did he not destroy profligately things for which he had
no use?"

"No," | said. "He took what he wanted, and he destroyed that
whi ch threatened him The rest he ignored.”

"Such arrogance!"

"Such practicality," said Bellidore.

"You call genocide on a galactic scale practical_?" demanded
t he Apprai ser.

"From Man's point of view, it was," answered Bellidore. "It
got himwhat he wanted with a minimum of risk and effort. Consider
that one single race, born not five hundred yards fromus, at one
time ruled an enpire of nmore than a million worlds. Al npbst every
civilized race in the gal axy spoke Terran."

"Upon pain of death."

"That is true," agreed Bellidore. "I did not say Man was an
angel. Only that, if he was indeed a devil, he was an efficient
one."

It was time for ne to assinmilate the third artifact, which
the Hi storian and the Appraiser seenmed to think was the handl e of
a knife, but even as | noved off to performny function, |
could not help but listen to the speculation that was taking
pl ace.

"G ven his bloodlust and his efficiency," said the Appraiser,
"I'"'msurprised that he lived | ong enough to reach the stars."

"It is_surprising in a way," agreed Bellidore. "The
Historian tells me that Man was not al ways honbgenous, that early
in his history there were several variations of the species. He
was di vided by color, by belief, by territory." He sighed. "Still,
he must have learned to live in peace with his fellow man. That
much, at |east, accrues to his credit.”

I reached the artifact with Bellidore's words still in ny
ears, and began to engulf it...

* * *

Mary Leakey pressed against the horn of the Landrover. Inside
the museum her husband turned to the young uniforned officer

"I can't think of any instructions to give you," he said.
"The nmuseunmi s not open to the public yet, and we're a good 300
kil oneters from Ki kuyul and. "

"I"'mjust following ny orders, Dr. Leakey,'
of ficer.

"Well, | suppose it doesn't hurt to be safe,"” acknow edged
Leakey. "There are a lot of Kikuyu who want ne dead even though
spoke up for Kenyatta at his trial." He wal ked to the door. "If
the di scoveries at Lake Turkana prove interesting, we could be
gone as long as a nonth. O herwi se, we should be back within ten
to twelve days."

"No problem sir. The nuseumwill still be here when you
get back."

"l never doubted it," said Leakey, wal king out and joi ni ng
his wife in the vehicle.

Li eutenant |an Chel nswood stood in the doorway and wat ched
the Leakeys, acconpanied by two nmilitary vehicles, start down the
red dirt road. Wthin seconds the car was obscured by dust, and he
st epped back into the building and cl osed the door to avoid being
covered by it. The heat was oppressive, and he renpved his jacket
and hol ster and laid themneatly across one of the snmall display
cases.

It was strange. Al the imges he had seen of African
wildlife, fromthe German Schillings' old still photographs to the

replied the
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Ameri can Johnson's notion pictures, had led himto believe that
East Africa was a wonderl and of green grass and clear water. No
one had ever nmentioned the dust, but that was the one nenory of it
that he would take hone with him

Well, not quite the only one. He would never forget the
nmor ni ng the al arm had sounded back when he was stationed in
Nanyuki. He arrived at the settlers' farmand found the entire
famly cut to ribbons and all their cattle nutilated, nost with
their genitals cut off, nany m ssing ears and eyes. But as
horrible as that was, the picture he would carry to his grave was
the kitten inpaled on a dagger and pinned to the mailbox. It was
the Mau Mau's signature, just in case anyone thought sone nadman
had run beserk anpbng the cattle and the hunans.

Chel nswood didn't understand the politics of it. He didn't
know who had started it, who had precipitated the war. It nmade no
difference to him He was just a soldier, following orders, and if
those orders woul d take himback to Nanyuki so that he could kil
the men who had committed those atrocities, so nuch the better

But in the nmeantinme, he had pulled what he considered I|diot
Duty. There had been a very mild outburst of violence in Arusha,
not really Mau Mau but rather a show of support for Kenya's
Ki kuyu, and his unit had been transferred there. Then the
governnent found out that Professor Leakey, whose scientific finds
had made O duvai Corge al nbst a househol d word anong East
Africans, had been getting death threats. Over his objections,
they had insisted on providing himwth bodyguards. Mst of the
men from Chel mswood' s unit woul d acconpany Leakey on his trip to
Lake Turkana, but sonmeone had to stay behind to guard the nuseum
and it was just his bad luck that his nane had been atop the duty
roster.

It wasn't even a nmuseum really, not the kind of nuseum his
parents had taken himto see in London. _Those_were nuseuns; this
was just a two-room nud-wall ed structure with perhaps a hundred of
Leakey's finds. Ancient arrowheads, sone oddly-shaped stones that
had functioned as prehistoric tools, a couple of bones that
obviously weren't from nonkeys but that Chel nswood was certain
were not fromany creature he_ was related to.

Leakey had hung sone crudely-drawn charts on the wall, charts
that showed what he believed to be the evolution of some small,
grotesque, apelike beasts into hono sapiens . There were
phot ogr aphs, too, show ng sone of the finds that had been sent on
to Nairobi. It seened that even if this gorge was the birthplace
of the race, nobody really wanted to visit it. Al the best finds
wer e shi pped back to Nairobi and then to the British Museum In

fact, this wasn't a nmuseum at all, deci ded Chel nswood, but rather
a holding area for the better specinens until they could be sent
el sewhere

It was strange to think of life starting here in this gorge
If there was an uglier spot in Africa, he had yet to conme across
it. And while he didn't accept Genesis or any of that religious
nonsense, it bothered himto think that the first human beings to
wal k the Earth m ght have been black. He'd hardly had any exposure
to bl acks when he was growing up in the Cotswolds, but he'd seen
enough of what they could do since coming to British East, and he
was apal |l ed by their savagery and barbari sm

And what about those crazy Americans, winging their hands
and saying that colonialismhad to end? If they had seen what
_he'd_ seen on that farmin Nanyuki, they'd know that the only
thing that was keeping all of East Africa fromexploding into an
unholy confl agration of blood and butchery was the British
presence. Certainly, there were parallels between the Mau Mau and
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America: both had been col onized by the British and both want ed
their independence...but there all simlarity ended. The Anericans
wote a Declaration outlining their grievances, and then they
fielded an arny and fought the British soldiers . Wat did
choppi ng up i nnocent children and pinning cats to mail boxes have
in common with that? If he had his way, he'd march in half a

mllion British troops, w pe out every |ast Kikuyu -- except for
the good ones, the loyal ones -- and solve the probl emonce and
for all.

He wandered over to the cabi net where Leakey kept his beer
and pulled out a warmbottle. Safari brand. He opened it and took
a long swallow, then made a face. If that's what people drank on
safari, he'd have to renenber never to go on one.

And yet he knew that sonmeday he would_ go on safari,
hopeful | y before he was nustered out and sent hone. Parts of the
country were so damed beautiful, dust or no dust, and he |iked
the thought of sitting beneath a shade tree, cold drink in hand,
whil e his body servant cooled himwith a fan nade of ostrich
feathers and he and his white hunter discussed the day's kills and
what they would go out after tonmorrow. It wasn't the shooting that
was inportant, they'd both reassure thensel ves, but rather the
thrill of the hunt. Then he'd have a couple of his black boys draw
his bath, and he'd bathe and prepare for dinner. Funny how he had
fallen into the habit of calling them boys; nobst of themwere far
ol der than he.

But while they weren't boys, they were_ children in need of
gui dance and civilizing. Take those Maasai, for exanple; proud,
arrogant bastards. They | ooked great on postcards, but try
_dealing_ with them They acted as if they had a direct line to
God, that He had told themthey were Hs chosen people. The nore
Chel nswood t hought about it, the nore surprised he was that it was
the Ki kuyu that had begun Mau Mau rather than the Maasai. And cone
to think of it, he'd notice four or five Maasai _el norani _ hangi ng
around the nuseum He'd have to keep an eye on them..

"Excuse, please?" said a high-pitched voice, and Chel nswood
turned to see a small skinny black boy, no nore than ten years
old, standing in the doorway.

"What do you want?" he asked

"Doctor M ster Leakey, he prom se ne candy,'
st eppi ng inside the building.

"Go away," said Chelnmswood irritably. "W don't have any
candy here."

"Yes yes," said the boy, stepping forward. "Every day."

"He gives you candy every day?"

The boy nodded his head and smi | ed.

"Where does he keep it?"

The boy shrugged. "Maybe in there?" he said, pointing to a
cabi net .

Chel nswood wal ked to the cabinet and opened it. There was
nothing in it but four jars containing prinmtive teeth.

"l don't see any," he said. "You'll have to wait until Dr.
Leakey cones back."

Two tears trickled down the boy's cheek. "But Doctor M ster
Leakey, he promse !"

sai d the boy,

Chel mswood | ooked around. "I don't know where it is."
The boy began crying in earnest.
"Be quiet!" snapped Chel nswood. "I'Il look for it."

"Maybe next room" suggested the boy.
"Cone al ong," said Chel nswood, wal ki ng through the doorway to
the adjoining room He |ooked around, hands on hips, trying to
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i magi ne where Leakey had hi dden the candy.

"This place maybe," said the boy, pointing to a closet.

Chel nswood opened the closet. It contained two spades, three
pi cks, and an assortment of small brushes, all of which he assuned
were used by the Leakeys for their work.

"Not hing here," he said, closing the door

He turned to face the boy, but found the room enpty.

"Little bugger was lying all along," he nuttered. "Probably
ran away to save hinself a beating."

He wal ked back into the main room-- and found hinself facing
a well-built black man hol ding a machete-like _panga_ in his right
hand.

"What' s goi ng on here?" snapped Chel nswood.

"Freedomis going on here, Lieutenant," said the black man in
near-perfect English. "I was sent to kill Dr. Leakey, but you will
have to do."

"Why are you killing anyone?" demanded Chel nswood. "Wat did
we ever do to the Maasai ?"

"I will let the Maasai answer that. Any one of them could
take one |l ook at me and tell you than |I am Ki kuyu -- but we are
all the same to you British, aren't we?"

Chel mswood reached for his gun and suddenly realized he had
left it on a display case.

"You all look |ike cowardly savages to ne!"

"Why? Because we do not neet you in battle?" The black man's
face filled with fury. "You take our |and away, you forbid us to
own weapons, you even nake it a crine for us to carry spears --
and then you call us savages when we don't march in formation
agai nst your guns!" He spat contenptuously on the floor. "W fight
you in the only way that is left to us."

"I't's a big country, big enough for both races,
Chel mswood.

"If we cane to England and took away your best farm and and
forced you to work for us, would you think England was big enough
for both races?"

"I'"'mnot political," said Chel newood, edgi ng anot her step
closer to his weapon. "I'mjust doing ny job."

"And your job is to keep two hundred whites on | and that once
held a million Kikuyu," said the black man, his face reflecting
his hatred.

"There'll be a lot less than a nmillion when we_ get through
with you!" hissed Chel mswood, diving for his gun

Quick as he was, the black man was faster, and with a single
swi pe of his _panga_ he al nost severed the Englishman's right hand
fromhis wist. Chel newood bell owed in pain, and spun around,
presenting his back to the Ki kuyu as he reached for the pisto
wi th his other hand.

The _panga_ cane down again, practically splitting himopen,
but as he fell he managed to get his fingers around the handl e of
his pistol and pull the trigger. The bullet struck the black man
in the chest, and he, too, collapsed to the floor

"You've killed nme!" mpaned Chel nswood. "Wy woul d anyone want
to kill me?"

"You have so much and we have so little," whispered the black
man. "Why nust you have what is ours, too?"

"What did | ever do to you?" asked Chel nswood

"You came here. That was enough," said the black man. "Filthy
English!" He closed his eyes and lay still.

"Bl oody nigger!" slurred Chel mswood, and di ed.

Qut side, the four Maasai paid no attention to the tunult
within. They let the small Ki kuyu boy | eave without giving himso

sai d
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much as a glance. The business of inferior races was none of their
concern

"These notions of superiority among menbers of the sane race
are very difficult to conprehend,” said Bellidore. "Are you _sure_
you read the artifact properly, He Wwo Views?"

"I do not _read_artifacts,” | replied. "I _assimlate_ them
| become one with them Everything _they_ have experienced, _|_
experience." | paused. "There can be no m stake."

"Well, it is difficult to fathom especially in a species

that woul d one day control nobst of the galaxy. Did they think
_every_race they net was inferior to thenP"

"They certainly behaved as if they did," said the Historian.
"They seened to respect only those races that stood up to them --
and even then they felt that mlitarily defeating them was proof
of their superiority."

"And yet we know from ancient records that primtive nman
wor shi pped non-sentient animals,"” put in the Exobiol ogist.

"They nust not have been survived for any great |ength of
time," suggested the Hi storian. "If Man treated the races of the
gal axy with contenpt, how nmuch worse nmust he have treated the poor
creatures wi th whom he shared his honme worl d?"

"Per haps he viewed them nmuch the sane as he viewed ny own
race," | offered. "If they had nothing he wanted, if they
presented no threat..."

"They woul d have had somet hing he wanted, " said the
Exobi ol ogist. "He was a predator. They woul d have had neat."

"And |l and," added the Historian. "If even the gal axy was not
enough to quench Man's thirst for territory, think how unw Iling
he woul d have been to share his own world."

"It is a question | suspect will never be answered," said
Bel | i dore.

"Unl ess the answer lies in one of the remaining artifacts,"”
agreed t he Exobi ol ogi st .

I"msure the remark was not neant to jar ne fromny | ethargy,
but it occurred to me that it had been half a day since |I had
assinilated the knife handle, and | had regai ned enough of mny
strength to exam ne the next artifact.

It was a nmetal stylus..

_February 15, 2103:

Well, we finally got here! The Supernole got us through the
tunnel from New York to London in just over four hours. Even so we
were twenty minutes late, mssed our connection, and had to wait
anot her five hours for the next flight to Khartoum Fromthere our

means of transport got increasingly nore primtive -- jet planes
to Nairobi and Arusha -- and then a quick shuttle to our canpsite,
but we've finally put civilization behind us. |'ve never seen open

spaces like this before; you're barely aware of the skyscrapers of
Nyerere, the cl osest town.

After an orientation speech telling us what to expect and how
to behave on safari, we got the afternoon off to neet our
travel i ng conpanions. |I'mthe youngest nenber of the group: a trip
like this just costs too nuch for nost people ny age to afford. O
course, nost people nmy age don't have an Uncl e Reuben who dies and
| eaves them a ton of noney. (Well, it's probably about eight
ounces of noney, now that the safari is paid for. Ha ha.)
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The lodge is quite rustic. They have quaint mnicrowaves for
warm ng our food, although nost of us will be eating at the
restaurants. | understand the Japanese and Brazilian ones are the
nmost popul ar, the fornmer for the food -- real fish -- and the
latter for the entertainment. My roommate is M. Shiboni, an
el derly Japanese gentleman who tells nme he has been saving his
money for fifteen years to conme on this safari. He seens pl easant
and good-natured; | hope he can survive the rigors of the trip.

| had really wanted a shower, just to get in the spirit of
things, but water is scarce here, and it looks like I'll have to
settle for the same old chenical dryshower. | know, | know, it
disinfects as well as cleanses, but if | wanted all the conforts
of home, |I'd have stayed home and saved $150, 000.

#

February 16:

We net our guide today. | don't know why, but he doesn't
quite fit ny preconception of an African safari guide. | was
expecting sonme grizzled old veteran who had a wealth of stories to
tell, who had maybe even seen a civet cat or a duiker before they
became extinct. What we got was Kevin O e Tanmbake, a young Masa
who can't be 25 years old and dresses in a suit while we all

wear our khakis. Still, he's lived here all his life, so | suppose
he knows his way around.
And I'Il give himthis: he's a wonderful storyteller. He

spent half an hour telling us nyths about how his people used to
live in huts called_ manyattas, _and howtheir rite of passage to
manhood was to kill a lion with a spear. As if the governnent
woul d | et anyone kill an aninal!

We spent the norning driving down into the Ngorongoro Crater
It's a collapsed_ caldara, _or volcano, that was once taller than
Kilimanjaro itself. Kevin says it used to teemw th gane, though
can't see how, since any gane standing atop it when it coll apsed
woul d have been instantly kill ed.

I think the real reason we went there was just to get the
ki nks out of our safari vehicle and | earn the proper protocol
Probably just as well. The air-conditioning wasn't working right
in tw of the compartnents, the service mechanismcouldn't get the
tenperature right on the iced drinks, and once, when we thought we
saw a bird, three of us buzzed Kevin at the sane tine and jamed
hi s communi cation |ine.

In the afternoon we went out to Serengeti. Kevin says it used
to extend all the way to the Kenya border, but nowit's just a 20-
square-mle park adjacent to the Crater. About an hour into the
game run we saw a ground squirrel, but he disappeared into a hole
before | could adjust ny holo canera. Still, he was very
i mpressive. Varying shares of brown, with dark eyes and a fluffy
tail. Kevin estinmated that he went al nbst three pounds, and says
he hasn't seen one that big since he was a boy.

Just before we returned to canp, Kevin got word on the radio
from anot her driver that they had spotted two starlings nesting in
a tree about eight mles north and east of us. The vehicle's
conmputer told us we wouldn't be able to reach it before dark, so
Kevin had it lock the spot in its nenory and pronised us that we'd
go there first thing in the norning.

| opted for the Brazilian restaurant, and spent a few
pl easant hours listening to the Iive band. A very nice end to the
first full day of safari.

#

February 17:

We |eft at dawn in search of the starlings, and though we
found the tree where they had been spotted, we never did see them
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One of the passengers -- | think it was the little man from Burng,
though I'mnot sure -- nmust have conpl ai ned, because Kevin soon
announced to the entire party that this was a_safari, _that there

was no guarantee of seeing any particular bird or aninal, and that
whil e he would do his best for us, one could never be certain
where the ganme m ght be

And then, just as he was tal king, a banded nongoose al nost a
foot |ong appeared out of nowhere. It seened to pay no attention
to us, and Kevin announced that we were killing the notor and
goi ng into hover nbode so the noise wouldn't scare it away.

After a mnute or two everyone on the right side of the
vehicle had gotten their hol ographs, and we slowly spun on our
axis so that the left side could see him-- but the novenent nust
have scared himoff, because though the maneuver took | ess than
thirty seconds, he was nowhere to be seen when we cane to rest
agai n.

Kevi n announced that the vehicle had captured the nbngoose
on its automated hol os, and copi es woul d be nmade available to
anyone who had m ssed their holo opportunity.

W were feeling great -- the right side of the vehicle,
anyway -- when we stopped for lunch, and during our afternoon gane
run we saw three yell ow weaver birds building their spherica
nests in a tree. Kevin let us out, warning us not to approach
closer than thirty yards, and we spent al nbst an hour watching and
hol ogr aphi ng t hem

Al in all, a very satisfying day.

#

February 18:

Today we | eft canp about an hour after sunrise, and went to a
new | ocation: O duvai GCorge.

Kevi n announced that we woul d spend our |ast two days here,
that with the encroachment of the cities and farms on all the flat
| and, the remaining big game was pretty nmuch confined to the
gul l eys and sl opes of the gorge.

No vehicle, not even our specially-equi pped one, was capabl e
of navigating its way through the gorge, so we all got out and
began wal king in single file behind Kevin.

Most of us found it very difficult to keep up with Kevin. He
cl anbered up and down the rocks as if he'd been doing it all his
life, whereas | can't remenber the last time | saw a stair that
didn't nove when | stood on it. W had trekked for perhaps half
an hour when | heard one of the nen at the back of our strung-out
party give a cry and point to a spot at the bottom of the gorge,
and we all |ooked and saw sonet hing raci ng away at phenonenal
speed.

"Anot her squirrel?" | asked.

Kevin just sml ed.

The man behind me said he thought it was a nbngoose.

"What you saw," said Kevin, "was a dik-dik, the |ast
surviving African antel ope.”

"How big was it?" asked a woman.

"About average size," said Kevin. "Perhaps ten inches at the
shoul der."

I magi ne anything ten inches high being called_average!

_Kevin explained that dik-di ks were very territorial, and that
this one wouldn't stray far fromhis hone area. Wich neant that
if we were patient and quiet -- and lucky -- we'd be able to spot
hi m agai n.

| asked Kevin how many dik-diks lived in the gorge, and he
scratched his head and considered it for a nonent and t hen guessed
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that there might be as many as ten. (And Yell owstone has only
ni neteen rabbits left! Is it any wonder that all the serious
ani mal buffs come to Africa?)

We kept wal ki ng for another hour, and then broke for |unch,
whil e Kevin gave us the history of the place, telling us all about
Dr. Leakey's finds. There were probably still nore skeletons to be
dug up, he guessed, but the governnment didn't want to frighten any
animal s away from what had become their |ast refuge, so the bones
woul d have to wait for some future generation to unearth them
Roughly transl ated, that nmeant that Tanzania wasn't going to give
up the revenues from 300 tourists a week and turn over the crown
jewel in their park systemto a bunch of anthropologists. | can't
say that | blane them

O her parties had begun pouring into the gorge, and | think
the entire safari popul ati on nust have total ed al nost 70 by the
time lunch was over. The gui des each seened to have "their" areas
mar ked out, and | noticed that rarely did we get within a quarter
nmle of any other parties.

Kevin asked us if we wanted to sit in the shade until the
heat of the day had passed, but since this was our next-to-I|ast
day on safari we voted overwhelnmingly to proceed as soon as we
wer e through eating.

It couldn't have been ten nminutes later that the disaster
occurred. W were clanbering down a steep slope in single file,
Kevin in the | ead as usual, and nme right behind him when | heard
a grunt and then a surprised yell, and | | ooked back to see M.
Shi boni tunbling down the path. Evidently he'd lost his footing,
and we coul d hear the bones in his | eg snap as he hurtled toward
us.

Kevi n positioned hinself to stop him and al nbost got knocked
down the gorge hinself before he finally stopped poor M. Shiboni
Then he knelt down next to the old gentleman to tend to his broken
leg -- but as he did so his keen eyes spotted sonething we all had
m ssed, and suddenly he was bounding up the sl opes |ike a nonkey.
He stopped where M. Shiboni had initially stunbled, squatted
down, and exam ned sonething. Then, |ooking like Death itself,
he picked up the object and brought it back down the path.

It was a dead lizard, fully-grown, alnost eight inches |ong,
and snmashed flat by M. Shiboni. It was inpossible to say whether
his fall was caused by stepping on it, or whether it sinply
couldn't get out of the way once he began tunbling...but it nmade
no difference: he was responsible for the death of an animal in a
Nat i onal ParKk.

| tried to renenber the rel ease we had signed, giving the
Park System permission to instantly wi thdraw noney from our
accounts should we destroy an aninmal for any reason, even self-
protection. | knew that the absol ute m ni mum penalty was $50, 000,
but | think that was for two of the nore common birds, and that
ugaama and gecko lizards were in the $70, 000 range.

Kevin held the lizard up for all of us to see, and told us
that should | egal action ensue, we were all witnesses to what had
happened.

M. Shiboni groaned in pain, and Kevin said that there was no
sense wasting the lizard, so he gave it to ne to hold while he
splinted M. Shiboni's | eg and sunmoned t he paranedi cs on the
radi o.

| began examining the little lizard. Its feet were finely-
shaped, its tail long and el egant, but it was the colors that nmade
the nost lasting inpression on ne: a reddi sh head, a bl ue body,
and grey legs, the color growing lighter as it reached the claws.
A beautiful, beautiful thing, even in death.
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After the paranmedi cs had taken M. Shiboni back to the | odge,
Kevi n spent the next hour show ng us how the ugaama |izard
functioned: howits eyes could see in two directions as once,
how its claws allowed it to hang upside down from any uneven
surface, and how efficiently its jaws could crack the carapaces of
the insects it caught. Finally, in view of the tragedy, and al so
because he wanted to check on M. Shiboni's condition, Kevin
suggested that we call it a day.

None of us objected -- we knew Kevin woul d have hours of
extra work, writing up the incident and convincing the Park
Departnment that his safari conpany was not responsible for it --
but still we felt cheated, since there was only one day left. |
think Kevin knew it, because just before we reached the | odge he
promi sed us a special treat tonorrow.

I'"ve been awake hal f the night wondering what it could be?
Can he possibly know where the other dik-diks are? O could the
| egends of a last flam ngo possibly be true?

#

February 19:

W were all excited when we clinbed aboard the vehicle this
nmor ni ng. Everyone kept asking Kevin what his "special treat" was,
but he nerely snmled and kept changing the subject. Finally we
reached A duvai Gorge and began wal king, only this tinme we seened
to be going to a specific location, and Kevin hardly stopped to
try to spot the dik-dik.

We clinbed down tw sting, wi nding paths, tripping over tree
roots, cutting our arns and | egs on thorn bushes, but nobody
obj ected, for Kevin seenmed so confident of his surprise that all
these hardshi ps were forgotten

Finally we reached the bottom of the gorge and began wal ki ng
along a flat winding path. Still, by the tine we were ready to
stop for lunch, we hadn't seen a thing. As we sat beneath the
shade of an acacia tree, eating, Kevin pulled out his radio and
conversed with the other guides. One group had seen three dik-

di ks, and another had found a lilac-breasted roller's nest with
two hatchlings init. Kevin is very conpetitive, and ordinarily
news |ike that woul d have had hi murging everyone to finish eating
qui ckly so that we would not return to the | odge having seen | ess
than everyone else, but this time he just smled and told the

ot her guides that we had seen nothing on the floor of the gorge
and that the ganme seened to have noved out, perhaps in search of
wat er .

Then, when lunch was over, Kevin wal ked about 50 yards away,
di sappeared into a cave, and energed a nonent later with a snall
wooden cage. There was a little brown bird init, and while | was
thrilled to be able to see it close up, | felt sonehow
di sappointed that this was to be the special treat.

"Have you ever seen a honey gui de?" he asked.

We all admtted that we hadn't, and he expl ained that that
was the name of the small brown bird

| asked why it was called that, since it obviously didn't
produce honey, and seened incapabl e of replacing Kevin as our
gui de, and he sm | ed again.

"Do you see that tree?" he asked, pointing to a tree perhaps
75 yards away. There was a huge beehive on a | ow hangi ng branch

"Yes," | said.
"Then watch," he said, opening the cage and rel easing the
bird. It stood still for a nmonent, then fluttered its wi ngs and

took off in the direction of the tree.
"He is making sure there is honey there," explai ned Kevin,
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pointing to the bird as it circled the hive.

"Where is he going now?" | asked, as the bird suddenly flew
down the river bed

"To find his partner.”

"Partner?" | asked, confused.

"Wait and see," said Kevin, sitting down with his back
propped agai nst a | arge rock

We all followed suit and sat in the shade, our binoculars and
hol o caneras trained on the tree. After alnost an hour nothing had
happened, and some of us were getting restless, when Kevin tensed
and pointed up the river bed.

"There!" he whispered.

I looked in the direction he was pointing, and there,
following the bird, which was flying just ahead of himand
chirping frantically, was an enornmous bl ack-and-white animal, the
| argest | have ever seen.

"What is it?" | whispered

"A honey badger," answered Kevin softly. "They were thought
to be extinct twenty years ago, but a mated pair took sanctuary in
O duvai. This is the fourth generation to be born here."

"I's he going to eat the bird?" asked one of the party.

"No," whispered Kevin. "The bird will lead himto the honey,
and after he has pulled down the nest and eaten his fill, he will
| eave sonme for the bird."

And it was just as Kevin said. The honey badger clinbed the
bole of the tree and knocked of f the beehive with a forepaw, then
clinmbed back down and broke it apart, oblivious to the stings of
the bees. W caught the whole fantastic scene on our hol os, and
when he was done he did indeed | eave sonme honey for the honey
gui de.

Later, while Kevin was recapturing the bird and putting it
back in its cage, the rest of us discussed what we had seen. |
t hought the honey badger nust have wei ghed 45 pounds, though |ess
excitabl e menbers of the party put its weight at closer to 36 or
37. Wiichever it was, the creature was enormous. The discussion
then shifted to how big a tip to | eave for Kevin, for he had
certainly earned one.

As | wite this final entry in ny safari diary, | amstil
trenbling with the excitenment that can only conme from encountering
big game in the wild. Prior to this afternoon, | had sone doubts
about the safari -- | felt it was overpriced, or that perhaps ny
expectations had been too high -- but now | know that it was
worth every penny, and | have a feeling that | am | eaving sone
part of me behind here, and that | will never be truly content
until | return to this |ast bastion of the wilderness. _

* * *

The canp was abuzz with excitenent. Just when we were sure
that there were no nore treasures to unearth, the Stardust Twi ns
had found three small pieces of bone, attached together with a
wire -- obviously a human artifact.

"But the dates are wong," said the Historian, after
exam ning the bones thoroughly with its equipnent. "This is a

primtive piece of jewelry -- for the adornnent of savages, one
m ght say -- and yet the bones and wire both date fromcenturies
after Man di scovered space travel ."

"Do you..."

"...deny that we..."
“...found it in the..."
...gorge?" demanded the Twi ns.
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"I believe you," said the Historian. "I sinply state that it
seenms to be an anachronism”
"It is our find, and..."
"...it will bear our name."
"No one is denying your right of discovery," said Bellidore.
s sinply that you have presented us with a nystery."
"Gve it to..."
"...He W Views, and he..."
"...will solve the nystery."

"1t

"I will do ny best," | said. "But it has not been | ong enough
since | assinilated the stylus. | nust rest and regain ny
strength. "

"That is..."

"...acceptable."

We | et the Moriteu go about brushing and cl eaning the
artifact, while we speculated on why a primtive fetish should
exist in the starfaring age. Finally the Exobiol ogi st got to her

feet.

"I am going back into the gorge," she announced. "If the
Stardust Twins could find this, perhaps there are other things we
have overl ooked. After all, it is an enornmous area." She paused

and | ooked at the rest of us. "Wuld anyone care to conme with nme?"
It was nearing the end of the day, and no one vol unteered,
and finally the Exobiol ogi st turned and began wal ki ng toward the
path that Ied dowmn into the depths of O duvai Gorge.
It was dark when | finally felt strong enough to assinilate
the jewelry. | spread my essence about the bones and the wire and
soon becane one with them..

H s name was Joseph Meronp, and he could live with the noney
but not the guilt.

It had begun with the communication fromBrussels, and the
vei | ed suggestion fromthe head of the nulti-national conglonerate
headquartered there. They had a certain commpdity to get rid of.
They had no place to get rid of it. Could Tanzani a hel p?

Merono had told themhe would |l ook into it, but he doubted
that his government could be of use.

Just _try , cane the reply.

In fact, nore than the reply cane. The next day a private
courier delivered a huge wad of |arge-denomnation bills, with a
polite note thanking Merono for his efforts on their behalf.

Meronmo knew a bri be when he saw one -- he'd certainly taken
enough in his career -- but he'd never seen one renptely the size
of this one. And not even for helping them but nerely for being
willing to explore possibilities.

Wel |, he had thought, why not? What could they conceivably
have? A couple of containers of toxic waste? A few pl utoniumrods?
You bury them deep enough in the earth and no one woul d ever know
or care. Wasn't that what the Western countries did?

O course, there was the Denver Disaster, and that little
acci dent that nade the Thanmes undrinkable for alnbst a century,
but the only reason they popped so quickly to nmind is because they
were the _exceptions , not the rule. There were thousands of
dunpi ng sites around the world, and 99% of them caused no probl ens
at all.

Meronmo had his conmputer cast a hol ographi c map of Tanzani a
above his desk. He |ooked at it, frowned, added topographica
features, then began studying it in earnest.

_If_he decided to help themdunp the stuff, whatever it was
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-- and he told hinself that he was still uncomitted -- where
woul d be the best place to dispose of it?
Of the coast? No, the fishermen would pull it up two m nutes

later, take it to the press, and raise enough hell to get him
fired, and possibly even cause the rest of the governnent to
resign. The party really couldn't handl e any nore scandals this
year.

The Sel ous Province? Maybe five centuries ago, when it was
the last wilderness on the continent, but not now, not with a
thriving, seni-autononous city-state of fifty-two nillion people
where once there had been nothing but el ephants and al nost -

i npenetrabl e thorn bush.

Lake Victoria? No. Sane problemw th the fishernen.

Dar es Salaan? It was a possibility. C ose enough to the
coast to nake transport easy, practically deserted since Dodona
had becone the new capital of the country.

But Dar es Sal aam had been hit by an earthquake twenty years
ago, when Meronp was still a boy, and he couldn't take the chance
of another one exposing or breaking open whatever it was that he
pl anned to hide.

He continued goi ng over the map: Gonbe, Ruaha, Iringa, Moeya,
Mwara, Tarengire, O duvai..

He stopped and stared at O duvai, then called up al
avai | abl e dat a.

Alnost a mle deep. That was in its favor. No aninmals left.
Better still. No settlenents on its steep slopes. Only a handfu
of Maasai still living in the area, no nore than two dozen
famlies, and they were too arrogant to pay any attention to what
the government was doing. O that Meronp was sure: he hinmself was
a Maasai

So he strung it out for as long as he could, collected cash
gifts for alnbst two years, and finally gave them a delivery date.

Merono stared out the window of his 34th floor office, past
the bustling city of Dodoma, off to the east, to where he inmagi ned
A duvai Corge was.

It had seened so sinple. Yes, he was paid a | ot of noney, a
di sproportionate anount -- but these multi-nationals had noney to
burn. It was just supposed to be a few dozen plutoniumrods, or so
he had thought. How was he to know that they were speaki ng of
forty-two _tons_ of nuclear waste?

There was no returning the nmoney. Even if he wanted to, he
could hardly expect themto cone back and pull all that deadly
material back out of the ground. Probably it was safe, probably no
one woul d ever know. ..

But it haunted his days, and even worse, it began haunting
his nights as well, appearing in various guises in his dreans.
Sonetinmes it was as carefully-seal ed containers, sonetines it was
as ticking bonbs, sonetines a disaster had already occurred and
all he could see were the charred bodi es of Maasai children spread
across the lip of the gorge.

For al nost eight nonths he fought his devils al one, but
eventual ly he realized that he must have hel p. The dreams not only
haunted himat night, but invaded the day as well. He woul d be
sitting at a staff neeting, and suddenly he woul d i nagi ne he was
sitting among the emaci ated, sore-covered bodies of the O duva
Maasai . He woul d be readi ng a book, and the words seened to change
and he woul d be readi ng that Joseph Meronp had been sentenced to
death for his greed. He would watch a holo of the Titanic
di saster, and suddenly he was view ng sonme variation of the
O duvai Disaster

Finally he went to a psychiatrist, and because he was a
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Maasai, he choose a Maasai psychiatrist. Fearing the doctor's
contenpt, Meronp would not state explicitly what was causing the
ni ght mares and intrusions, and after alnost half a year's worth of
futile attenpts to cure him the psychiatrist announced that he
could do no nore

"Then am | to be cursed with these dreans forever?" asked
Mer ono.

"Perhaps not," said the psychiatrist. " | _cannot help you,
but just possibly there is one man who can."

He rummaged through his desk and canme up with a small white
card. On it was witten a single word: MJLEWOD.

"This is his business card," said the psychiatrist. "Take
it."

"There is no address on it, no neans of comunicating with
him" said Meronp. "How will | contact hin®"

"He will contact you."

"You will give himny nanme?"

The psychiatrist shook his head. "I will not have to. Just
keep the card on your person. He will know you require his
services."

Meronmo felt |ike he was being made the butt of sone joke he
didn't understand, but he dutifully put the card in his pocket
and soon forgot about it.

Two weeks later, as he was drinking at a bar, putting off
goi ng horre to sleep as long as he could, a snmall wonan approached
hi m

"Are you Joseph Meronmp?" she asked.

"Yes. "

"Pl ease foll ow nme."

"Why?" he asked suspi ciously.

"You have business with Mil ewo, do you not?" she said.

Meronmo fell into step behind her, at |east as nuch to avoid
goi ng horme as fromany belief that this nysterious man with no
first nanme could help him They went out to the street, turned
left, walked in silence for three blocks, and turned right, com ng
to a halt at the front door to a steel-and-gl ass skyscraper

"The 63rd floor," she said. "He is expecting you."

"You're not comng with ne?" asked Merono.

She shook her head. "My job is done." She turned and wal ked
off into the night.

Merono | ooked up at the top of the building. It seened
residential. He considered his options, finally shrugged, and wal k
into the | obby.

"You're here for Mul ewo," said the doorman. It was not a
question. "Go to the elevator on the left."

Meronmo did as he was told. The el evator was paneled with an
oil ed wood, and snelled fresh and sweet. It operated on voice
command and quickly took himto the 63rd floor. Wen he energed he
found hinself in an el egantly-decorated corridor, with ebony
wai nscotting and di screetly-placed mrrors. He wal ked past three
unmar ked doors, wondering how he was supposed to know which
apart nent bel onged to Miulewo, and finally cane to one that was
partially open.

"Cone in, Joseph Merono," said a hoarse voice fromwthin.

Merono opened the door the rest of the way, stepped into the
apartnent, and blinked.

Sitting on a torn rug was an old nan, wearing nothing but a
red cloth gathered at the shoulder. The walls were covered by
reed matting, and a noxious-snelling caldron bubbled in the
fireplace. A torch provided the only illumnation
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"What _is_ this?" asked Meronp, ready to step back into the
corridor if the old man appeared as irrational as his
surroundi ngs.

"Conme sit across fromne, Joseph Merono," said the old man.
"Surely this is less frightening than your nightnares."

"What do you know about ny ni ght mares?" demanded Mer ono.

"I know why you have them | know what |ies buried at the
bottom of O duvai Corge."

Merono shut the door quickly.

"Who told you?"

"No one told nme. | have peered into your dreans, and sifted
through themuntil | found the truth. Cone sit."

Merono wal ked to where the old man indicated and sat down
carefully, trying not to get too nmuch dirt on his freshly-pressed
outfit.

"Are you Mil ewo?" he asked.

The old man nodded. "I am Mul ewo."

"How do you know t hese things about nme?"

"I ama _laibon_," said Mil ewo.

"A witch doctor?"

"It is a dying art,'
practitioner."

"I thought _Iaibons_ cast spells and created curses."

"They al so renove curses -- and your nights, and even your
days, are cursed, are they not?"

"You seemto know all about it."

"I know that you have done a wicked thing, and that you are
haunted not only by the ghost of it, but by the ghosts of the
future as well."

"And you can end the dreans?"

"That is why | have sunmoned you here."

"But if |I did such a terrible thing, why do you want_to
hel p ne?"

"I do not make noral judgnents. | amhere only to help the
Maasai . "

"And what about the Maasai who live by the gorge?" asked
Merono. "The ones who haunt ny dreans?"

"When _they_ ask for help, then | will help them"

"Can you cause the nmaterial that's buried there to vani sh?"

Mul ewo shook his head. "I cannot undo what has been done.
cannot even assuage your guilt, for it is a just guilt. Al | can
do is banish it fromyour dreans."

"Il settle for that," said Merono.

There was an uneasy sil ence.

"What do | do now?" asked Merono.

"Bring me a tribute befitting the magnitude of the service
shal | perform"

"I can wite you a check right now, or have noney transferred
fromny account to your own."

"l have nore noney than | need. | nust have a tribute."

"But--"

"Bring it back tonorrow night," said Ml ewo.

Merono stared at the old laibon_ for a long mnute, then got
up and | eft wi thout another word.

He called in sick the next norning, then went to two of
Dodoma' s better antique shops. Finally he found what he was
| ooking for, charged it to his personal account, and took it hone
with him He was afraid to nap before dinner, so he sinply read a
book all afternoon, then ate a hasty neal and returned to Miul ewo's
apart nent.

"What have you brought ne?" asked Mil ewo.

answered Mul ewo. "|I amthe | ast
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Merono | aid the package down in front of the old man. "A
headdress nmade fromthe skin of a lion," he answered. "They told
me it was worn by Sendayo hinself, the greatest of all _laibons ."

"It was not," said Mul ewo, wi thout unw apping the package.
"But it is a sufficient tribute nonethel ess." He reached beneath
his red cloth and withdrew a small necklace, holding it out for
Mer ono.

"What is this for?" asked Meronob, exam ning the necklace. It
was nmade of small bones that had been strung together

"You nust wear it tonight when you go to sleep," explained
the old man. "It will take all your visions unto itself. Then
tonmorrow, you nust go to O duvai Gorge and throw it down to the
bottom so that the visions nay lay side by side with the

reality.”
"And that's all?"
"That is all."

Meronmo went back to his apartment, donned the neckl ace, and
went to sleep. That night his dreans were worse than they had ever
been before.

In the norning he put the necklace into a pocket and had a
governnent plane fly himto Arusha. Fromthere he rented a ground
vehicle, and two hours |later he was standing on the edge of the
gorge. There was no sign of the buried material

He took the necklace in his hand and hurled it far out over
the lip of the gorge.

Hi s ni ght mares vani shed that night.

#

134 years later, mghty Kilimanjaro shuddered as the |ong-
dormant volcano within it canme briefly to life.

One hundred mles away, the ground shifted on the floor of
O duvai Gorge, and three of the lead-1ined containers broke open

Joseph Meronp was | ong dead by that tine; and, unfortunately,
there were no _laibons_remaining to aid those people who were now
conpelled to |live Merono's ni ght mares.

* * *

I had exam ned the necklace in ny own quarters, and when |
came out to report ny findings, | discovered that the entire canp
was in a tunultuous state.

"What has happened?" | asked Bellidore.

"The Exobi ol ogi st has not returned fromthe gorge," he said.

"How | ong has she been gone?"

"She left at sunset last night. It is now norning, and she
has not returned or attenpted to use her comunicator.”

"W fear...

.that she mght..."

.have fallen and..."

. becone i mobile. O perhaps even..."
...unconscious..." said the Stardust Tw ns.

"l have sent the Historian and the Appraiser to | ook for

her," said Bellidore.

"I can help, too," | offered.

"No, you have the last artifact to exam ne," he said. "Wen
the Mriteu awakens, | will send it as well."

"What about the Mystic?" | asked.

Bel | i dore | ooked at the Mystic and sighed. "She has not said
a word since landing on this world. In truth, | do not understand
her function. At any rate, | do not know how to communicate with
her . ™"

The Stardust Twi ns kicked at the earth together, sending up a
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pai r of reddi sh dust clouds.

"I't seems ridiculous..." said one.

"...that we can find the tiniest artifact..

"...but we cannot find..

"...an entire exbiologist."

"Why do you not help search for it?" | asked.

"They get vertigo," explained Bellidore.

"W searched..."

"...the entire canp," they added defensively.

"I can put off assimlating the |ast piece until tonorrow,
and help with the search," | vol unteered.

"No," replied Bellidore. "I have sent for the ship. W wll
| eave tonorrow, and | want all of our nmajor finds exam ned by
then. It is _ny_job to find the Exobiologist; it is _yours_to
read the history of the last artifact."

"I'f that is your desire," | said. "Were is it?"

He led ne to a table where the Historian and the Appraiser
had been examining it.

said the other.

"Even _I_ know what this is," said Bellidore. "An unspent
cartridge." He paused. "Along with the fact that we have found no
human artifacts on any higher strata, | would say this in itself

is unique: a bullet that a nan chose _not_ to fire."

"When you state it in those terns, it _does_ arouse the
curiosity," | acknow edged.

"Are you. ..

"...going to exanmine it...

"...now?" asked the Stardust Twi ns apprehensively.

"Yes, | am" | said.

"Wait!" they shouted in unison

| paused above the cartridge while they began backi ng away.

"W nean..."

"...no disrespect..."

"...but watching you examne artifacts..."

"...is too unsettling."

And with that, they raced off to hide behind sonme of the canp
structures.

"What about you?" | asked Bellidore. "Wuld you like ne to
wait until you | eave?"

"Not at all," he replied. "I find diversity fascinating. Wth
your permssion, | wuld like to stay and observe."

"As you wish," | said, allowing ny body to nelt around the
cartridge until it had becone a part of nyself, and its history

becane ny own history, as clear and precise as if it had al
occurred yesterday..

"They are com ng!"

Thomas Nai kosi ai | ooked across the table at his wife.

"Was there ever any doubt that they woul d?"

"This was foolish, Thonas!" she snapped. "They will force us
to | eave, and because we nmde no preparations, we will have to
| eave all our possessions behind."

"Nobody is |leaving," said Naikosi ai

He stood up and wal ked to the closet. "You stay here,"” he
sai d, donning his long coat and his mask. "I will nmeet them
outside."

"That is both rude and cruel, to nmake them stand out there
when they have cone all this way."

"They were not invited," said Nai kosiai. He reached deep into
the closet and grabbed the rifle that | eaned up agai nst the back
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wal |, then closed the closet, wal ked through the airlock and
emerged on the front porch

Six nen, all wearing protective clothing and nmasks to filter
the air, confronted him

"It is time, Thomas," said the tallest of them

"Time for _you , perhaps," said Naikosiai, holding the rifle
casual |y across his chest.

"Time for all of us," answered the tall nan.

"I am not goi ng anywhere. This is nmy hone. | will not |eave
it."

"It is a pustule of decay and contam nation, as is this whole
country," canme the answer. "W are all |eaving."

Nai kosi ai shook his head. "My father was born on this | and,
and his father, and his father's father. _You_ may run from
danger, if you wish; I will stay and fight it."

"How can you nmeke a stand agai nst radi ati on?" denanded the
tall man. "Can you put a bullet through it? How can you fight air
that is no | onger safe to breathe?"

"Go away, " said Nai kosiai, who had no answer to that, other
than the conviction that he would never |eave his hone. "I do not
demand that you stay. Do not dermand that | |eave."

"It is for your own good, Naikosiai," urged another. "If you
care nothing for your owm life, think of your wife's. How nuch
| onger can she breathe the air?"

"Long enough."

"Way not |let _her_ decide?"

" | _speak for our famly."

An ol der man stepped forward. "She is _ny_ daughter, Thomas,"
he said severely. "I will not allow you to condemrmm her to the life
you have chosen for yourself. Nor will | let ny grandchildren
remai n here."

The ol d man took another step toward the porch, and suddenly
the rifle was pointing at him

"That's far enough," sai d Nai kosi ai

"They are Maasai," said the old man stubbornly. "They nust
come with the other Maasai to our new world."
"You are not Maasai," said Nai kosiai contenptuously. "Masa

did not |leave their ancestral |ands when the rinderpest destroyed
their herds, or when the white man cane, or when the governnents
sold off their |lands. Maasai never surrender. | _amthe |ast
Maasai . "

"Be reasonabl e, Thomas. How can you not surrender to a world
that is no | onger safe for people to live on? Come with us to New
Ki i manj aro."

"The Maasai do not run from danger," sai d Nai kosi ai

"I tell you, Thormas Nai kosiai," said the old nman, "that |
cannot allow you to condemm mny daughter and nmy grandchildren to
live in this hellhole. The last ship | eaves tonorrow norni ng. They
will be onit."

"They will stay with ne, to build a new Maasai nation."

The six nmen whi spered anong thensel ves, and then their |eader
| ooked up at Nai kosi ai

"You are naking a terrible m stake, Thomas," he said. "If you
change your nind, there is roomfor you on the ship."

They all turned to go, but the old nan stopped and turned to
Nai kosi ai

"I will be back for my daughter," he said.

Nai kosi ai gestured with his rifle. "I will be waiting for

you.
The old man turned and wal ked off with the others, and
Nai kosi ai went back into his house through the airlock. The tile
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floor snelled of disinfectant, and the sight of the television set
of fended his eyes, as always. Hs wife was waiting for himin the
kitchen, am d the dozens of gadgets she had purchased over the
years.

"How can you speak with such disrespect to the Elders!" she
demanded. "You have disgraced us."

"No!" he snapped. " _They_ have disgraced us, by leaving!"

"Thomas, you cannot grow anything in the fields. The aninals
have all died. You cannot even breathe the air without a filtering
mask. _Way do you insist on staying?"

"This is our ancestral land. W will not |leave it."

"But all the others--"

"They can do as they please,"” he interrupted. "Enkai will
judge them as He judges us all. | amnot afraid to neet ny
creator."

"But why nust you neet himso soon?" she persisted. "You have
seen the tapes and disks of New Kilimanjaro. It is a beautiful
world, green and gold and filled with rivers and | akes."

"Once Earth was green and gold and filled rivers and | akes, "

sai d Nai kosiai. "They ruined this world. They will ruin the next
one."

"Even if they do, we will be long dead," she said. "I want to
go."

"We' ve been through all this before."

"And it always ends with an order rather than an agreenent,"
she said. Her expression softened. "Thonmas, just once before
die, I want to see water that you can drink w thout adding
chemicals to it. | want to see antel ope grazing on | ong green
grasses. | want to wal k outside without having to protect nyself
fromthe very air | breathe."

"It's settled. "

She shook her head. "I |ove you, Thonas, but | cannot stay
here, and | cannot let our children stay here."

"No one is taking nmy children fromne!" he yell ed.

"Just because you care nothing for _your_ future, | cannot
permt you to deny our sons _their_future."

"Their future is here, where the Maasai have always lived."

"Pl ease cone with us, Papa," said a small voice behind him
and Nai kosiai turned to see his two sons, eight and five, standing
in the doorway to their bedroom staring at him

"What have you been saying to then?" demanded Nai kosi a
suspi ci ousl y.

"The truth," said his wife.

He turned to the two boys. "Cone here," he said, and they
trudged across the roomto him

"What are you?" he asked.

"Boys," said the younger child.

"What _else ?"

"Mnasai," said the ol der.

"That is right," said Naikosiai. "You cone froma race of
giants. There was a tine when, if you clinbed to the very top of
Kilimanjaro, all the land you could see in every direction
bel onged to us."

"But that was |ong ago,"” said the ol der boy.

"Sonmeday it will be ours again," said Naikosiai. "You nust
renenber who you are, ny son. You are the descendant of Leeyo, who
killed 100 lions with just his spear; of Nelion, who waged war
agai nst the whites and drove themfromthe Rift; of Sendayo, the
greatest of all the _laibons_. Once the Kikuyu and the Wakanba and
the Lunbwa trenbled in fear at the very nention of the word

file:///ID|/Documents%20and%20Settings/harryl/...-%20Seven%20Views%200f%200Iduvai%20Gorge.txt (30 of 34) [2/24/2004 10:56:18 PM]



file:///ID}/Documents%20and%20Setti ngs/harry/Desktop/New%20Fol der/Mike%20Resni ck%620-%20Seven%20V iews%200f %200l duvai %620Gorge.txt

Maasai . This is your heritage; do not turn your back on it."

"But the Kikuyu and the other tribes have all left."

"What difference does that make to the Maasai ? W did not
make a stand only agai nst the Ki kuyu and t he Wakanba, but agai nst
_all _ men who woul d have us change our ways. Even after the
Eur opeans conquered Kenya and Tanganyi ka, they never conquered the
Maasai . When | ndependence cane, and all the other tribes noved to
cities and wore suits and aped the Europeans, we renmined as we
had al ways been. W wore what we chose and we |ived where we
chose, for we were proud to be Maasai. Does that not _nean_
sonething to you?"

"WII we not still be Maasai if we go to the new worl d?"
asked the ol der boy.

"No," said Naikosiai firmy. "There is a bond between the
Maasai and the land. W define it, and it defines us. It is what
we have al ways fought for and al ways defended."

"But it is diseased now," said the boy.

"I'f 1 were sick, would you | eave me?" asked Nai kosi ai

"No, Papa."
"And just as you would not leave me in ny illness, so we wll
not leave the land in _its_ illness. Wen you | ove sonet hing, when

it is a part of what you are, you do not |leave it sinply because
it becones sick. You stay, and you fight even harder to cure it
than you fought to winit."

" But - -

"Trust me," said Naikosiai. "Have | ever msled you?"

"No, Papa."

"I am not m sl eading you now. W are En-kai's chosen peopl e.
We live on the ground He has given us. Don't you see that we
_must_ renain here, that we nust keep our covenent w th En-kai ?"

"But | will never see ny friends again!" wailed his younger

son.

"You will make new friends."

"Where?" cried the boy. "Everyone is gone!"

"Stop that at once!" said Naikosiai harshly. "Miasai do not
cry."

The boy continued sobbing, and Nai kosi ai | ooked up at his
wife.

"This is _your_doing," he said. "You have spoiled him"

She stared unblinking into his eyes. "Five-year-old boys are
allowed to cry. "

"Not Maasai boys," he answered.

"Then he is no | onger Maasai, and you can have no objection
to his comng with me."

"I want to go too!" said the 8-year-old, and suddenly he,
too, forced sonme tears down his face.

Thomas Nai kosi ai | ooked at his wife and his children --
really |ooked at them-- and realized that he did not know them
at all. This was not the quiet maiden, raised in the traditions of
his people, that he had married nine years ago. These soft sobbing
boys were not the successors of Leeyo and Neli on.

He wal ked to the door and opened it.

"Co to the newwrld with the rest of the black Europeans,"

he grow ed.

"WIIl you cone with us?" asked his ol dest son

Nai kosiai turned to his wife. "I divorce you," he said
coldly. "All that was between us is no nore."

He wal ked over to his two sons. "I disown you. | amno | onger

your father, you are no | onger ny sons. Now go!"
H's wife puts coats and nmasks on both of the boys, then
donned her own.
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"I will send sonme nen for ny things before norning," she
sai d.

"If any man cones onto ny property, | will kill him" said
Nai kosi ai

She stared at him a | ook of pure hatred. Then she took the
children by the hands and |l ed the out of the house and down the
|l ong road to where the ship awaited them

Nai kosi ai paced the house for a fewmnutes, filled with
nervous rage. Finally he went to the closet, donned his coat and
mask, pulled out his rifle, and wal ked through the airlock to the
front of his house. Visibility was poor, as always, and he went
out to the road to see if anyone was coning.

There was no sign of any novenent. He was al nost
di sappoi nted. He planned to show t hem how a Maasai protected what
was hi s.

And suddenly he realized that this was _not_ how a Maasa
protected his own. He wal ked to the edge of the gorge, opened the
bolt, and threw his cartridges into the void one by one. Then he
held the rifle over his head and hurled it after them The coat
canme next, then the mask, and finally his clothes and shoes.

He went back into the house and pulled out that special trunk
that held the menorabilia of a lifetine. In it he found what he
was | ooking for: a sinple piece of red cloth. He attached it at
hi s shoul der.

Then he went into the bathroom |ooking anong his wife's
cosnetics. It took alnmobst half an hour to hit upon the right
conbi nations, but when he energed his hair was red, as if sneared
with clay.

He stopped by the fireplace and pulled down the spear that
hung there. Fanmily tradition had it that the spear had once been
used by Nelion hinself; he wasn't sure he believed it, but it was
definitely a Maasai spear, blooded many tinmes in battle and hunts
during centuries past.

Nai kosi ai wal ked out the door and positioned hinself in front
of his house -- his manyatta . He planted his bare feet on the
di seased ground, placed the butt of his spear next to his right
foot, and stood at attention. Watever cane down the road next --
a band of bl ack Europeans hoping to rob himof his possessions, a
lion out of history, a band of Nandi or Lunbwa cone to slay the
eneny of their blood, they would find himready.

#

They returned just after sunrise the next norning, hoping
convince himto enmigrate to New Kilimanjaro. What they found was
the | ast Maasai, his lungs burst fromthe pollution, his dead eyes
staring proudly out across the vani shed savannah at sonme eneny
only he could see.

I released the cartridge, ny strength nearly gone, ny
enoti ons drai ned.

So that was how it had ended for Man on earth, probably |ess
than a mle fromwhere it had begun. So bold and so foolish, so
moral and so savage. | had hoped the last artifact would prove to
be the final piece of the puzzle, but instead it nerely added to
the mystery of this nost contentious and fascinating race.

Not hi ng was beyond their ability to achieve. One got the
feeling that the day the first primtive man | ooked up and saw t he
stars, the gal axy's days as a haven of peace and freedom were
nunbered. And yet they cane out to the stars not just with their
lusts and their hatred and their fears, but with their technol ogy
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and their nedicine, their heroes as well as their villains. Mst
of the races of the gal axy had been painted by the Creator in
pastels; Men were prinmaries.

I had much to think about as I went off to nmy quarters to
renew ny strength. | do not know how long | lay, sommol ant and
unnovi ng, recovering my energy, but it nust have been a long tineg,
for night had cone and gone before | felt prepared to rejoin the
party.

As | energed fromny quarters and wal ked to the center of
canp, | heard a yell fromthe direction of the gorge, and a nonent
| ater the Appraiser appeared, a large sterile bag bal anced atop an
air trolly.

"What have you found?" asked Bellidore, and suddenly I
remenbered that the Exobiol ogi st was ni ssing.

"I amal nost afraid to guess,” replied the Appraiser, |aying
the bag on the table.

Al the nenbers of the party gathered around as he began
withdrawi ng itens: a bl ood-stai ned conmuni cator, bent out of
shape; the floating shade, now broken, that the Exobiol ogi st used
to protect her head fromthe rays of the sun; a torn piece of
clothing; and finally, a single gleaning white bone.

The instant the bone was placed on the table, the Mystic
began screaming. W were all shocked into nonentary i mobility,
not only because of the suddenness of her reaction, but because it
was the first sign of Iife she had shown since joining our party.
She continued to stare at the bone and scream and finally, before
we coul d question her or renove the bone fromher sight, she
col | apsed.

"l don't suppose there can be nuch doubt about what
happened, " said Bellidore. "The creatures caught up with the
Exobi ol ogi st sonewhere on her way down the gorge and killed her."

"Probably ate..."

"...her too," said the Stardust Tw ns.

"I amglad we are |eaving today," continued Bellidore. "Even
after all these millennia, the spirit of Man continues to corrupt
and degrade this world. Those lunbering creatures can't possibly
be predators: there are no neat aninals left on Earth. But given
the opportunity, they fell upon the Exobiol ogi st and consumed her

flesh. | have this uneasy feeling that if we stayed nuch | onger,
we, too, would becone corrupted by this world' s barbaric
heritage."

The Mystic regai ned consci ousness and began scream ng again,
and the Stardust Twins gently escorted her back to her quarters,
where she was given a sedative

"l suppose we mght as well make it official," said
Bellidore. He turned to the Historian. "Wuld you pl ease check the
bone with your instrunments and nmake sure that this is the remains
of the Exobi ol ogi st ?"

The Historian stared at the bone, horror-stricken. "She was

my _friend_!" it said at last. "I cannot touch it as if it were
just another artifact."

"W nust know for sure," said Bellidore. "If it is not part
of the Exobiologist, then there is a chance, however slim that
your friend might still be alive."

The Historian reached out tentatively for the bone, then
jerked its hand away. "I can't!"

Finally Bellidore turned to ne.

"He Who Views," he said. "Have you the strength to exam ne
it?"

"Yes," | answered.

They all noved back to give me room and | allowed ny nass to
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slowy spread over the bone and engulf it. | assinmlated its
history and ingested its enotional residue, and finally | wthdrew
fromit.

"It is the Exobiologist," | said.

"What are the funeral custonms of her race?" asked Bellidore.

"Cremation," said the Appraiser.

"Then we shall build a fire and incinerate what remains of
our friend, and we will each offer a prayer to send her soul al ong
the Eternal Path."

And that is what we did.

#

The ship cane |ater that day, and took us off the planet, and
it is only now, safely renoved fromits influence, that | can
reconstruct what | |earned on that |ast norning.

| lied to Bellidore -- to the entire party -- for once | nade
my discovery | knew that ny primary duty was to get them away from
Earth as quickly as possible. Had | told themthe truth, one or
nore of them would have wanted to remain behind, for they are
scientists with curious, probing mnds, and | woul d never be able
to convince themthat a curious, probing mnd is no match for what
I found in nmy seventh and final view of O duvai Corge

The bone was not_a part of the Exobiol ogist. The Historian,
or even the Moriteu, would have known that had they not been too
horrified to examne it. It was the tibia of a _nman_.

Man has been extinct for five thousand years, at |east as we
citizens of the gal axy have cone to understand him But those
| unbering, ungainly creatures of the night, who seened so
attracted to our canpfires, are what Man has beconme. Even the
pol lution and radi ati on he spread across his own planet could not

kill himoff. It nerely changed himto the extent that we were
no |l onger able to recognize him
I could have told themthe sinple facts, | suppose: that a

tribe of these pseudo-Men stal ked the Exobi ol ogi st down the gorge,
then attacked and killed and, yes, ate her. Predators are not
unknown t hroughout the worlds of the gal axy.

But as | becane one with the tibia, as | felt it crashing
down again and agai n upon our conpani on's head and shoul ders, |
felt a sense of power, of exultation | had never experienced

before. | suddenly seened to see the world through the eyes of the
bone's possessor. | saw how he had killed his own conpanion to
create the weapon, | saw how he planned to plunder the bodi es of
the old and the infirmfor nore weapons, | saw visions of conquest
agai nst other tribes living near the gorge.

And finally, at the noment of triunph, he and | |ooked up at
the sky, and we knew that soneday all that we could see would be
ours.

And this is the knowl edge that | have lived with for two
days. | do not know who to share it with, for it is patently

imoral to exterminate a race sinply because of the vastness of
its dreans or the ruthlessness of its anbition
But this is a race that refuses to die, and sonehow | nust
warn the rest of us, who have lived in harnony for alnobst five
m | | enni a.
_It"s not over. _

-the end-
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